
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Planning Committee

Members of the Planning Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend 
a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on 
Wednesday, 2 February 2022 at 7.00 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is 
proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 14)

3. Declarations of Interest 
To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is.  Any declared interest will fall into one of the following 
categories:

A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest which has been or should have been 
declared to the Monitoring Officer, and in respect of which the member 
must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in question;

An Other Significant Interest under the Code of Conduct and in respect of 
which the member must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in 
question unless exercising the right of public speaking extended to the 
general public;

A voluntary announcement of another interest not falling into the above 
categories, made for reasons of transparency.



4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or the items in Part B (if any) in Public 

5. Planning applications for determination by the Committee 

a) 202111305 - 53 Nickleby Road Gravesend Kent DA12 4UQ (Pages 15 - 22)

b) 20211466 - TJ's 15 Milton Road Gravesend Kent (Pages 23 - 36)

c) 20211473 - Green Hedges The Street Cobham Gravesend (Pages 37 - 46)

6. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the Director 
(Planning & Development) 

A copy of the schedule has been placed in the democracy web library 
and also in the Reception, Civic Centre: - http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ.

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

8. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B

Items likely to be considered in Private

None

Members

Cllr Brian Sangha (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Brian Francis
Gary Harding
Samir Jassal
Bob Lane
Emma Morley
Elizabeth Mulheran
Tony Rice

Substitutes: To be notified

http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ
http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ




This page is intentionally left blank



1

Planning Committee

Wednesday, 24 November 2021 7.00 pm

Present:

Cllr Brian Sangha (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Brian Francis 
Gary Harding 
Samir Jassal 
Bob Lane 
Emma Morley
Elizabeth Mulheran
Tony Rice

Note:  Councillor John Burden and Councillor Jordan Meade were also in attendance                         

Shazad Ghani Service Manager (Planning)
Faye Hobbs Team Leader (Development Management) 
Rebecca Harrison Senior Planner 
Katherine Parkin Senior Planner 
Laura Caiels  Principal Lawyer – Place Team
Julie Francis-Beard Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

33. Apologies for absence 

No apologies for absence were received.

34. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on Wednesday, 27 October 
2021 were agreed and signed by the Chair.

35. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Rice declared an Other Interest in relation to application Item 5b – 20211213 – Tranklyn, 
Wrangling Lane, Luddesdown, Gravesend as he was one of the Ward Councillors. Cllr Rice 
removed himself from the Planning Committee and spoke only as a Ward Councillor. Cllr 
Rice did not participate in any discussions and did not vote on this item. 

Cllr Rice declared an Other Significant Interest in Item 5D – 20210453 Former Cinema Site, 
11 King Street, Gravesend Kent as he is a Director of Rosherville Limited, a Local Authority 
Trading Company (LATCo). The LATCo is bringing forward The Charter development. As he 
considered that the interest may reasonably be regarded as affecting the financial position of 
Rosherville Limited, Cllr Rice withdrew from the meeting for the duration of the item. 

36. Planning applications for determination by the Committee 

Page 5 Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee 24.11.2021

2

36.1 20211047 - 25 The Avenue, Gravesend, Kent,  DA11 0NA 

The Committee considered 20211047 in relation to 25 The Avenue, Gravesend, Kent DA11 
0NA. The application was for the retrospective application for change of use from a dwelling 
house to an 11no. bedroom house of multiple occupation (HMO).

The internal alterations to the ground floor create 4 bedrooms, a kitchen/sitting area and two 
WC/shower rooms. The first floor contains 4 bedrooms, a bathroom and a WC/shower room, 
and the second floor has 3 further bedrooms. There are no external alterations.

The Senior Planner introduced application 20211047 to the Committee and highlighted key 
points from the report. 

 The site lies close to the town centre in a mixed residential area, and in the Pelham 
Road / The Avenue Conservation Area. The property is one of a group of large semi-
detached houses of identical design. The area is mainly residential but includes a mix 
of residential uses, including supported accommodation (No. 2) and bedsits (Nos 4 
and 17) and other HMO’s (Nos 5 and 15).

 Due to the size of the property (over 3 bedrooms), its suitable location and existing 
mixed residential use of the area, an HMO use is considered appropriate for this site, 
and complies with the requirements of saved Policy H5 of the 1994 Local Plan and 
Policy C14 of the 2014 Core Strategy. 

 There are no proposed external alterations, which will retain front and rear gardens as 
existing. The proposal is therefore considered to preserve the character and 
appearance of the application site its and the surrounding Conservation Area. 

 The site had permission earlier this year for a single storey rear extension, which will 
now be used to provide bedrooms. There are 4 bedrooms on the ground floor, two of 
which are accessed through the shared kitchen/sitting space, which is the only shared 
space provided for the whole house and its 11 residents. There are also two separate 
WC/shower rooms on this floor. 

 There are a further four bedrooms on the first floor, together with a separate bathroom 
and shower room. 

 There are three further bedrooms in the roof space of the house. It is not clear how 
many occupants there will be per bedroom as no room layouts had been provided. If 
any of the bedrooms are intended to be double rooms, there could be between 11 and 
22 occupants at the property. However, the application had been assessed on face 
value and in relation to 11 persons. 

 The main concern with the proposal relate to the impact on the amenity of the any 
future occupiers of the HMO. The Council has a Guidance to Amenity Standards 
document that is intended to assist in the provision of accommodation in HMOs that 
contributes to a safe and healthy environment for occupants and visitors. The 
guidance includes minimum bedroom sizes, which much be met to comply with the 
requirements on HMO licences. 

 The amenity standards set out that a bedroom occupied by a person over 10 years old 
should be a minimum of 6.51 square metres. Room 10 scales off at 6.3 square 
metres, and is clearly below the required minimum standard. 

 The size of the kitchen and dining space is also over 10 square metres below the 
required minimum standard (33 square metres) for an HMO that will house at least 11 
persons. There is a concern that the proposal does not provide adequate living 
accommodation for future occupants and would result in cramped accommodation for 
them. There are other amenity concerns including the top floor bedroom being too far 

Page 6



Planning Committee 24.11.2021

3

from the only communal area in the house, and a lack of detail about whether 
appropriate mechanical ventilation, wash hand basins, and refuse storage can be 
provided in the property. 

 Other planning considerations include issues of neighbour amenity. As no external 
changes are proposed, there are not adverse impacts on light or privacy for 
neighbouring properties. Noise, disturbance and matters of crime and anti-social 
behaviour have also been raised by neighbours, but there is no evidence that 
substantial or sustained levels of harm would result from the proposal, or indeed that 
this has occurred from similar uses in the area.  

 Parking concerns had also been raised. Given the accessibility of the site to public 
transport and town centre services and facilities, there is no parking requirements for 
the proposal. Bicycle and motorcycle provisions could be made at the site. Therefore, 
there are no highway concerns. 

In response to Members questions on the clarification of the application, the Senior Planner 
explained that:

 The communal area was confirmed as being 22 square metres.
 Following a question from a Member regarding whether a HMO required a licence, the 

Senior Planner confirmed that they do have a licence in place and another department 
in the Council issued it.  

 Gravesham Borough Council follows the same standard room sizes as advertised on 
the website Shelter and they are 6.5 square metres for 1 person, 10.22 square metres 
for 2 people and 4.64 square metres for children under 10 years old. 

 The Service Manager (Planning) explained that you would not require planning 
permission for HMOs for 6 people or less normally. If there were an increase in the 
number of bedrooms, a requirement fee would need to be paid reflecting the increase 
in numbers with regards to the SAMMS tariff. The Chair discussed the SAMMS tariff 
and if there was a requirement to pay the tariff in relation to this application.  

 The Senior Planner informed the Committee that they did not have the exact distance 
from the top floor to the communal area. The HMO Amenity Standard document states 
that there should only be one floor between the bedrooms and the communal space, 
in this property there would be two floors between. 

The Committee heard the views of a public speaker in favour of the application. Following the 
address by the public speaker, Members had their questions answered:   

 The registered speaker confirmed that bedroom 10 would be removed as a bedroom 
and could be used as a communal area if required. The Service Manager (Planning) 
confirmed that although the applicant had been dealing with Private Housing in getting 
their licence it was not in conjunction with the Planning Officers. The Chair reminded 
the Committee they were there to determine the application that was in front of them.

 The size of the room that would be given up for living space was 6.5 square metres 
and the recommended size is 6.51 square metres so that would not meet the 
minimum requirement. 

 The Chair asked given the scale, the location, the frontage and side entrance how far 
did they engage with the local residents. The registered speaker responded that no 
engagement had been taken. 

The Committee heard the views of a public speaker against of the application. Following the 
address by the public speaker, Members had their questions answered:   

Page 7



Planning Committee 24.11.2021

4

 The registered speaker explained that they had had no contact with the 
Agent/Applicant of the property even though they lived opposite. 

The Committee heard from Cllr Baljit Hayre, a Ward Councillor for Pelham Ward and spoke 
against the application for the following reasons:

 The site is located within a high degree of residential properties, there is a lack of 
parking spaces and increased on-street parking and additional parking due to the 
station being close by. 

 There could be an increase in noise levels with 11-22 people using the HMO.  

The Team Leader (Development Management) fielded questions from Members and    the 
following discussions were had:

 There was a discussion regarding the applicant working closely with a different part of 
the Council and not specifically the Planning Team and there had been a slight conflict 
about the information given. The applicant should wait for planning to be approved 
before requesting information/advice from other departments. 

 Intensive use of the site and particularly worrying for the future HMO occupants. 
 Parking is a serious issue. 
 The kitchen space and living space recommended should be 59 square metres; the 

size in this property is currently 23 square metres. 
 The Chair reminded Members that the Officers report showed that 11-22 residents 

could share the communal space, which is well below the standard requirement.
 Officers identified issues with refuse collection and disposal along with on-street 

parking and the impact on public services. The Chair confirmed that although the 
applicant had been working with one part of the Council, they had not been working 
with the Planning Team. 

 The Vice Chair moved the application as refusal. 

The Chair thanked the registered speakers, Cllr Hayre and the officers for the detailed report.

Resolved that application 20211047 be REFUSED Planning Permission as per the Officer 
recommendation set out in the main Agenda 

1. The proposed development would fail to comply with the Guidance to HMO Amenity 
Standards in respect of the living conditions for future occupants of the proposed 
HMO, with regard to inadequate provision of acceptable kitchen/living/dining and 
bedroom spaces, and the failure to demonstrate appropriate provision for hand wash 
basins, bathroom ventilation, and refuse storage. The proposal would therefore fail to 
provide a high standard of amenity for future users, which would conflict with the 
requirements of the Guidance to HMO Amenity Standards 2006, saved Policy H5 of 
the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994, Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan Core Strategy 2014, and paragraph 130 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2021. 

2. The proposal fails to secure a contribution towards strategic mitigation measures 
within the Thames Estuary and Marshes SPA/Ramsar Sites to resolve disturbance 
issues to wintering birds, and in the absence of this contribution or any evidence to 
inform an appropriate assessment, the development fails to comply with the 
requirements of the Habitat Regulations and paragraphs 174 and 180 of the National 

Page 8



Planning Committee 24.11.2021

5

Planning Policy Framework 2021 and Policy CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan 
Core Strategy 2014.

Refusal:    Unanimous

Note: (a) Mr Jasbir Dosanjh (Applicant) in favour) addressed the Committee
(b) Ms Mollie Luckhurst (Objector) addressed the Committee.
(c) Mrs Julia Davies (Objector) addressed the Committee.
(d) Ward Councillor Baljit Hayre spoke with the leave of the Chair

36.2 20211213 - Tranklyn, Wrangling Lane, Luddesdown, Gravesend 

Cllr Rice moved from his seat on the Planning Committee to the Ward Councillor’s seat and 
only spoke as a Ward Councillor for the duration of this item. 

The Committee considered 20211213 in relation to Tranklyn Wrangling Lane Luddesdown 
Gravesend. The application was for the erection of replacement dwelling and associated 
works. 

The Service Manager (Planning) introduced application 20211213 to the Committee and 
highlighted key points from the report. 

 The proposal before Members is for the erection of a replacement dwelling. 
 The application site is a detached bungalow located within the Green Belt and an 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). The previous application, refused in 
June 2021, was identical to this application.

 The proposal before Members is for the replacement dwelling to be built further east 
within the site

 The site falls away towards the east and the applicant is seeking to utilise the change 
in topography to build a larger building, with a similar ridge height to the existing 
dwelling.

 The applicant’s landscape work identifies that the site is well screened by existing 
trees, the applicant’s landscape work sets out there would be minimal to no 
landscape effects, with some beneficial effects, however as set out in the report, this 
is disputed. 

 The applicant’s main reason for submitting the application has been to seek the 
Council’s views on the NPPF’s requirements as set out in Para 149. and whether or 
not the development is considered to be materially larger.

 The term ‘materially larger’ is not defined in the NPPF, but as set out in the report 
has been considered by Courts, Court judgements set out that factors such as 
footprint, floor space, volume and massing should be considered, with floor space 
being an important factor.

 The proposed replacement dwelling would be 87% larger than the original dwelling.   
 Further analysis showed that there is a significant increase in size and bulk, which 

has resulted in materially larger footprint and massing of the dwelling. 
 Paragraph 147 of the NPPF stated that inappropriate development is, by definition, 

harmful to the Green and should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances, taking into account Paragraph 148 of the NPPF, no such case had 
been put forward during the application. 

Page 9



Planning Committee 24.11.2021

6

In response to Members questions on the clarification of the application, the Service Manager 
(Planning) explained that:

 The Service Manager (Planning) explained that the Planning Officer could not confirm 
what would be acceptable regarding paragraph 149 which states the replacement of a 
building is an exception to green belt policy, subject to the new building being in the 
same use and not materially larger than the one it replaces. 

 Pre-planning advice was not sought for this application following the previously 
refused application. 

 The Chair asked that although this property was in a Green Belt area, there had been 
no objections from Kent Downs AONB Management Unit, no neighbour objections, no 
issues with highways and it seemed the issue was principally the size of the 
replacement dwelling in comparison with the current dwelling. It was confirmed that 
this was the case.

 The actual structure is materially larger than the existing property even though it is 
located on a different part of the site this does not comply with the NPPF. Planning 
Permission was originally granted for a rear extension to the existing building but this 
new proposal is much larger.

 Although there are outbuildings within close proximity of the dwelling, they are not 
factored into the analysis of this application. 

The Committee heard the views of a public speaker in favour of the application. Following the 
address by the public speaker, Members had their questions answered:   

 The Applicant’s health issues were discussed and the layout of the existing property 
and how this affected her day-to-day life.  

 The Applicant’s medical issues were not included in the Planning Application as very 
special circumstances.

 Energy efficiency was discussed regarding the existing dwelling and how inadequate it 
was with leaky roofs, mould under the windows and this was not helping with any 
medical issues. The proposed dwelling would have a heat sourced system and solar 
panels on the roof. 

 A Cattery Business that was being run, had now closed and the Applicant was 
prepared to offer up removal of the outbuildings associated with this use to gain 
Planning Permission for the new dwelling. 

 The Chair asked if the replacement dwelling was permitted, if the existing dwelling 
would be demolished and returned to open Green Belt area. The registered speaker 
confirmed this would be the case, and discussed that there was an outbuilding at the 
back of the property that is currently higher than the proposed dwelling and that could 
also be demolished. 

 The Landscape Impact Assessment explained it would make the area slightly better, 
which would give them a positive impact. 

The Committee heard from Cllr Tony Rice, a Ward Councillor for Luddesdown.

Cllr Rice was of the opinion that possibly the existing policies we have are out of step with the 
National Planning Policy Framework. Gravesham’s policy stated a replacement dwelling in 
the Green Belt and AONB should be no greater than 33% of the existing floor area, however 
the NPPF did not follow this approach. Cllr Rice has researched the policy approaches of 
other Councils and they seemed to be more open to interpretation in context of size. 
Fundamentally, this issue caused Cllr Rice to call this application in to have a further debate 

Page 10



Planning Committee 24.11.2021

7

on and he was in favour of this application. 

Cllr Rice took the view that that the spirit of the NPPF was to preserve the landscape, to stop 
the sprawl, to enhance and protect the AONB. The location is in Luddesdown, which whilst a 
large parish only actually has 78 dwellings with most of those being in Henley Street and the 
rest are in the Green Belt, 14 properties are in Wrangling Road. Luddesdown Parish Council 
and the AONB had no objections. The Applicants are currently living in what can be described 
as a log cabin. They are not overlooked and it would a struggle to see this property in any 
circumstances. The proposed dwelling would be lower than the existing property and will be 
based in a lower valley. The existing footprint of the current dwelling will not be much different 
from the footprint of the new dwelling.  

The Chair thanked Cllr Rice for his comments.  

The following points were raised during discussion on this application:

 The Vice Chair stated the proposals of the application did not demonstrate the very 
special circumstances and asked how far medical matters will go towards the deciding 
the application. The Service Manager (Planning) explained that medical evidence 
would be required including information from the NHS, the applicant would also need 
to show evidence that they are unable to alter the existing building to enable it to be 
brought up to standard and that there are no alternative properties in the area that 
would meet their requirements. It was clarified that the applicant did not supply special 
circumstances required for this application.  

 The Chair indicated that the Applicants have close ties with the area and may not find 
a suitable replacement in a different area. 

The Service Manager (Planning) fielded questions from Members and the following 
discussions were had: 

 Members considered whether there was any additional ‘other harm’ resulting from the 
proposal and considered the specific circumstances of the applicant, and in particular 
the applicants specific medical history and whether or not that amounted very special 
circumstances needed to approve the application. 

 Information from the Design and Access Statement was discussed, as well as specific 
health related questions posed to the applicant. Members advised the applicant that if 
there had been more information regarding personal circumstances included in the 
design and access statement from the applicants it could have helped the Planners. 

The Chair summarised and asked Members to focus on the application before them. Including 
that the proposal was materially larger than the existing dwelling but that this needed to be 
balanced against the information the registered speaker and Cllr Rice had given in relation to 
very special circumstances.. 

The personal needs of the occupants need to be looked at as well as the inefficiencies of the 
current dwelling and context of the location.   

The existing dwelling, once returned to garden, would have less of an impact on the Green 
Belt than the replacement dwelling. The energy efficient replacement dwelling would 
contribute towards addressing the climate emergency and it would be fit for purpose, for the 
applicants to enjoy the proposed dwelling for some time and allow the specific health 
requirements of the applicant to be catered for. 

Page 11



Planning Committee 24.11.2021

8

The Vice Chair summed up the application and proposed this application be accepted with 
conditions. Cllr Lane seconded the proposal. 

Resolved that the application be APPROVED Planning Permission, as the harm by reason of 
inappropriateness and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations (which 
include consideration of the applicants health, availability of suitable accommodation in the 
area, and possibility of extending/improving/ redeveloping the applicant’s existing home), 
which when taken together amount to the very special circumstances necessary to justify the 
development, subject to conditions which include permitted development rights being 
removed.

The Chair thanked the registered speaker, Cllr Rice and the officers for the detailed report.

Approved: 8 Members
Cllr Tony Rice was not present for this item and, therefore, did not vote. 

Note: (a) Mrs Clair Phelps (Applicant – in favour) addressed the Committee.
(b) Ward Councillor Tony Rice spoke with the leave of the Chair.

36.3 20210453 - Former Cinema Site, 11 King Street, Gravesend, Kent 

 Cllr Tony Rice left the meeting for the duration of this item.

The Committee considered 20210453 in relation to Former Cinema, 11 King Street, 
Gravesend Kent. The application was for the repair, restoration, extension and repurposing 
of 11-12 King Street to provide a residents' workhub at ground floor level and 6 flats above 
along with the construction of a new building to the rear standing between part 6 and part 9 
storeys to contain 47 flats together with car and cycle parking, refuse and recycling storage 
and private and communal amenity spaces.

The Chair reminded the Committee that at the previous meeting there had been a good 
debate about this application and that it had been deferred for a site inspection and the 
Senior Planning Officer would summarise the main points of the application.

The application had been considered at the 27 October Planning Committee where Members 
resolved that the application be deferred for one cycle for a site inspection, which took place 
on 13 November.  

The Supplementary Report in the pack set out the discussions held at that inspection.  

There had been no new information accepted by officers on this application since the October 
meeting and therefore no changes to the original report.  

As set out in the main and supplementary report, the proposed development would provide a 
net increase of 53 dwellings, develop a vacant and underused site, be a sustainable form of 
development in terms of location and construction methods, be acceptable in relation to 
parking and highway safety, refuse, flood risk and drainage and contaminated land (subject to 
conditions).  

However, notwithstanding the proposed development would be unacceptable in design and 
heritage terms, the amenity of occupiers and neighbouring properties and would not protect 
the Thames Estuary and Marshes Ramsar site and Special Protection Area.

Page 12



Planning Committee 24.11.2021

9

 In response to Members questions on the clarification of the application, the Senior Planning 
Officer explained that:  

 On 17 November, following the site inspection, Planning did receive a pack of revised 
information from the Agent but due to the scale of changes being proposed there 
would need to be a full review. Not all the necessary supporting documentation was 
attached. A consultation of neighbouring properties and full assessment by officers 
would need to be undertaken. As this was not possible before the date of this 
Committee, it was suggested to the Applicant/Agent that the application be withdrawn 
and a new application submitted. The Applicant/Agent did not want to withdraw the 
current application and wished to proceed to this Committee. 

 The Team Leader (Development Management) explained that the additional 
information was not requested by the Planning Officer, it was submitted by the Agent 
following the site inspection. Due to the lack of time, the additional information could 
not be reviewed fully by the date of this Committee. 

 The Chair reminded members that Officers would need time to consider the 
implications of the revised amendments. 

The Committee heard the views of a public speaker in favour of the application. Following the 
address by the public speaker, Members had their questions answered:   

 The Chair explained that the additional information had been submitted on 17 
November and this Committee was held on 24 November, there was not enough time 
to review all the amendments and for the information to be in the public domain. 

 The registered speaker informed the Committee they were informed they could 
withdraw the application and resubmit with all the relevant documentation but it was 
felt that would take too long to be able to come back to the Committee. 

 No affordable housing would be included in the revised application. 

The Team Leader (Development Management) fielded questions from Members and the 
following points were discussed:

 It was agreed that the site needed some form of development but it had to be the right 
development.  

 The Chair reminded Members that they can only determine the application that is in 
front of them. If they were minded to defer this application, under the Constitution, 
there is no time frame stated in which this application has to come back to Committee.  
Officers will need to look and review all the supporting information and undertake the 
consultation. 

 Concerns were raised regarding affordable housing and Members felt that scheme 
should include this.

 The height of the application was an issue but following the site inspection the 
Agent/Application had proposed to reduce the height by 2 storeys. 

 Communication between the applicant and officers needs to take place. 
 The Chair confirmed that if this application was deferred the Committee would be 

determining a revised application not a new application. 
 The Leader of the Council spoke with the leave of the Chair, and explained that 

although there is a drive on the delivery of new housing units, Gravesham must make 
sure that it is the right development for the site. Officers need time to be able to review 
this revised application and it may be that this application does not come back for a 
few cycles of the Planning Committee. It has to be a good scheme, the applicant 

Page 13



Planning Committee 24.11.2021

10

needs a good scheme and the area needs a good scheme. 
 The Chair thanked the leader and said it was not about time constraints but we need 

all the information and then we can make the right decision. 

Cllr Jassal recommended a deferral until all the information had been processed and Cllr 
Craske seconded the recommendation. 

Resolved that the application be DEFERRED Planning Permission, for the following reasons: 

1. The amended plans received prior to the meeting to be assessed for further 
  negotiations to take place.

2. Consultations to be undertaken. 

3. The Applicant to provide supporting revised documentation 

4. To produce a revised financial viability statement on the impact of the revised 
Scheme including delivery of affordable housing. Once this has all be completed, this 
will then be brought back to the Committee to be determined.

Deferral: 8 Members 
Cllr Tony Rice was not present for this item and, therefore, did not vote.

Note: (a) Mr Mark Batchelor (Planning Consultant – in favour) addressed the Committee.
(b) Councillor John Burden spoke with the leave of the Chair

36.4 20200898 - Meopham Valley Vineyard, Meopham Green, Meopham, 
Gravesend, Kent DA13 0PY 

This Planning Application was withdrawn. 

37. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the 
Director (Planning & Development) 

A schedule showing applications determined by the Director (Environment) under delegated 
powers had been published on the Council’s website.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.32 pm

Page 14



SUMMARY REPORT

Application Ref: 20211305

Site Address: 53 Nickleby Road Gravesend Kent DA12 4UQ

Application 
Description:

Retrospective application for erection of an outbuilding in the rear 
garden to be used as home gym, games and family room.  

Applicant: Mr M Sheikh

Agent: Mr Jonathan Bolton, Synergy

Ward: Chalk

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision due date: 14 December 2021

Publicity expiry date: 10.11.2021

Decision Level:  Planning Committee

Reason for referral: At the request of Cllr Hills

Recommendation: Approval
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

Summary of Reasons for Recommendations

The design of the proposed development is considered to respect the character of the 
surrounding area. It also safeguards the amenity of future occupiers and neighbouring 
properties. As such, the proposal is in accordance with Policy CS19 of the Local Plan Core 
Strategy 2014 and the NPPF 2021. On this basis, the officer recommendation approval. 

____________________________________________________________________________

MAIN REPORT

1. Proposal and Site Description

1.1. The proposal seeks planning permission for a flat roofed outbuilding approximately 2.8 
metres in height towards the rear of the garden, along the shared boundary with 216 
Lower Higham Road. The outbuilding would be incidental to the enjoyment of the 
dwellinghouse and used as a family/games room and/or gym. 

1.2. An extract of the outbuilding has been taken from the proposed plans;

Page 15 Agenda Item 5a



Proposed block plan

Proposed plans

1.3. The application site is comprised of a two-storey semi-detached dwelling on the northern 
side of 53 Nickleby Road, a residential street of similar architectural character.

1.4. In keeping with neighbouring properties, the front elevation of the dwelling has a front 
porch and a drive capable of accommodating two vehicles. A side gate to the western 
flank wall provides access to the rear garden.

1.5. The rear garden is approximately 26 metres in depth and the extent of the private amenity 
space is 268 sq.m. Most neighbouring properties also have outbuildings situated to the 
rear of their respective gardens, although they are of varying designs and scales.

Page 16



2. Relevant Planning History

2.1. The relevant planning history is as follows;

Application 
Ref. No. Description Decision 
20100348 Application for Lawful Development Certificate for the 

proposed laying out of a new hardstanding at the front.
Lawful 
Development 
Certificate 
Granted

20100349 Erection of single storey front extension to form an enlarged 
garage and porch.

Approved

20210576 Erection of single storey front and rear extensions and the 
conversion of the existing garage into habitable rooms.

Approved

20211344 Application for variation of condition 2 attached to planning 
permission reference no. 20210576 for Erection of single 
storey front and rear extensions and the conversion of the 
existing garage into habitable rooms to allow amendment to 
make a change for the rear elevation from hip to gable roof 
and adding roof light windows to rear roof slope.

Approved

3. Planning Policy, Development Plan and other Material Considerations

3.1. The relevant polices for this proposal are as follows:

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014)

 CS01 – Sustainable Development
 CS02 – Scale & Distribution of Development
 CS12 – Green Infrastructure
 CS18 – Climate Change
 CS19  - Development & Design Principles

3.2 Paragraph 33 of the NPPF (2021) sets out that policies within adopted local plans should be 
reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once every five years, and should 
then be updated as necessary.  Such reviews are also a legal requirement as set out in 
Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) England Regulations 
2012.

3.3 The Council undertook such a review in September 2019 and found that the adopted Local 
Plan Core Strategy is in need of a partial review in terms of Policy CS02, due to the 
increased need for housing since the Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted and the need to 
ensure that a sufficient land supply exists to meet this need.  Whilst saved policies from the 
Local Plan 1st Review (1994) generally conform with the NPPF (2021), the Council will also 
seek to replace these.

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994)

• P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards

Page 17



National Planning Policy Framework (2021)

•   Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
•   Section 4 – Decision-making
•   Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
•   Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

Supplementary Planning Guidance

 Residential layout guidelines including Housing Standards Policy Statement October 2015 
SPG2 (adopted 1996, amended June 2020);

 Householder Extensions/Alterations Design Guide SPD (October 2021);
 SPG 4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006)

4. Consultations and Publicity Responses

Consultations

4.1. 14 surrounding properties were consulted and the consultation expired on 10.11.2021. 
One comment of support was received stating there were no objections.

4.2. The Ward Councillor for Chalk has also been consulted but no formal comments have 
been received.

5. Planning Analysis and Service Manager Planning Comments

5.1. The application site is located within the urban area where the principle of development is 
acceptable providing it meets the criteria of the Policies listed below.

Design, Character and Appearance

5.2. The application site is comprised of a two-storey semi-detached property in use as a 
single family dwelling in an urban area of Gravesend. The proposed development is for 
the erection an outbuilding in the rear garden.

5.3. The outbuilding would have a flat roof and would be approximately 2.8 metres in height. 
The development would be of a brick construction using LBC Dapple light facing bricks 
(facing brick to be used on all elevations) with a single ply flat roof finish. The elevation 
facing the rear of the host property would have two windows and two separate doors 
towards each end of the outbuilding. The remaining three elevations of the outbuilding do 
not include any openings. The internal floorspace of the outbuilding would be 
approximately 37 sq.m.

5.4. Policy CS19 (Development & Design Principles) of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy (LPCS) states that new development will conserve and enhance the character of 
the local built, historic and natural environment, integrate well with the surrounding local 
area and meet anti-crime standards. 

5.5. It is acknowledged that the application is retrospective and that works have already been 
commenced at the site. Notwithstanding this, the outbuilding would not be out of 
character in the immediate locality given that a number of surrounding properties have a 
number of outbuilding towards rear of their gardens.  Furthermore, there is limited 
visibility to the rear of the site from the street scene. 

Page 18



5.6. On balance, the proposal is considered to be in keeping with the local character, and 
accords with CS19 Development and Design Principles in this regard.

Amenity of Future Occupiers

5.7. A material consideration in this application is the recent approval for the single storey rear 
extension approved under 20210576 and subsequently amended under 20211344. The 
single storey rear extension, as approved, is over 6 metres in depth. With regards to the 
outbuilding, the concern is that there would be insufficient private amenity space retained 
at the site for future occupiers, when the proposed development and the development 
permitted under 20211344 are considered together.

20210576 Block Plan 20211344 Block Plan

5.8. However, the depth of the rear garden from the rear wall is approximately 26 metres and 
the depth of the single storey rear extension would reduce the garden depth to slightly 
under 20 metres. The area where the outbuilding would be situated would result in a 
further loss of private amenity space which would mean the final garden depth would be 
approximately 14 metres with an overall area of 140 sq.m. 

5.9. The Residential layout SPG2 (2020) states that for a property of 4 or more bedrooms the 
minimum garden area retained at a residential property should be 100 sq.m and a garden 
depth of 10 metres.

Page 19



5.10. Therefore, it is considered the outbuilding would comply with Policy CS19 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014) in respect of the living conditions 
for future occupants of the dwelling.

Neighbouring Amenity

5.11. The outbuilding is proposed to be used as a gym/family room and it is considered that this 
would be incidental use of the host property which is a single family dwelling.

5.12. The proposed development exceeds Permitted Development height allowances by 
approximately 30cm. When considering this fall-back position, it is considered that the 
scale of the outbuilding would not create significant harm to adjoining neighbouring 
properties in terms of being an over dominant and/or overbearing structure in the rear 
garden.

5.13. The applicant has not provided sufficient detail regarding the internal layout of the 
proposed development, therefore, a condition will be added to ensure that the additional 
space created in the garden remains incidental to the host property in the interests of 
neighbouring amenity.

5.14. It is considered that the proposal complies with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan 
Core Strategy (September 2014) in respect of design and neighbouring amenity.

6. Conclusion

6.1. The proposed development is recommended for approval, as it is considered that it’s 
design and scale respects the character of the surrounding area, whilst safeguarding thee 
amenity of future occupiers and neighbouring properties. The proposal is therefore in 
accordance with Policy CS19 of the Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 and the NPPF 2021.

______________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation

The recommendation is for the application to be APPROVED Planning Permission, for the 
following reasons:

The proposed outbuilding is recommended for approval and considered it is appropriately 
designed and respects the character of the surrounding area. The amenity of future occupiers and 
neighbouring properties is safeguarded. The proposal is in accordance with Policy CS19 of the 
Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 and the NPPF 2021.

CONDITIONS

1. The development as carried out shall accord with the following plan:
 Drawing No. 21/346/01 – Proposed Plan and Elevations

Reason: For the avoidance of any doubt and in the interest of proper planning.

Page 20



2. The outbuilding hereby permitted shall be occupied only for purposes incidental to and in 
conjunction with the use of the existing property as a single dwelling house and not as a 
separate or independent unit of residential accommodation.

Reason: To ensure that the accommodation remains incidental to the existing dwelling house 
and does not create a separate or independent unit to safeguard the amenities of 
neighbouring occupiers and in the interests of visual amenity of the area in accordance in 
accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

INFORMATIVES:-

 1 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-MAKING

In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), and paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) 2021, the Local Planning Authority has approached the assessment and 
determination of this application in a positive and creative way and, where appropriate, has worked 
pro-actively with the applicant to secure a development that is sustainable and that improves the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area, and that is in accordance with the 
Development Plan for the area.

 2 BUILDING REGULATIONS AND PARTY WALL ACT

This decision DOES NOT imply any consent which may be required under the Building Regulations 
or under any other enactment or provision.  Nor does it override any private rights which any person 
may have relating to the land affected by this decision, including the provisions of the Party Wall etc. 
Act 1996.

3 DEVIATION FROM APPROVED PLANS

It is possible that any proposed deviation from the approved plans could be classed as a 'material' 
change requiring a further application/permission.  In the event that any change is proposed, 
applicants are advised to seek advice from the Local Planning Authority [as proceeding without the 
necessary permissions could nullify this permission].

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY REPORT

Application Ref: 20211466

Site Address: TJ's 15 Milton Road Gravesend Kent

Application 
Description:

Demolition of the existing 2 storey outrigger and erection of a 
replacement two storey outrigger linked to a first floor extension to the 
existing function room including the change of use of the new first 
floor accommodation to 6no.en-suite letting rooms ancillary to the 
existing public house including the relocation of the existing toilets and 
provision of disabled toilet facilities.  

Applicant: Mrs Iris Smith, TJ's Public House

Agent: Mr James Barron, Barron Edwards Ltd

Ward: Riverside

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision due date: 4 March 2022

Publicity expiry date: 31 December 2021

Decision Level:  Planning Committee

Reason for referral: At the request of Cllr Meade, Cllr Croxton, Cllr Milner and Cllr Rolles

Recommendation: Refuse
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

Summary of Reasons for Recommendations

This application seeks permission for the demolition of the existing 2 storey outrigger and 
erection of a replacement two storey outrigger linked to a first floor extension to the existing 
function room including the change of use of the new first floor accommodation to 6no.en-suite 
letting rooms ancillary to the existing public house including the relocation of the existing toilets 
and provision of disabled toilet facilities.  

The application, albeit showing a slightly different internal layout, has been refused once before 
for the following reason:

The proposal would result in the loss of the existing historic two storey outrigger on this 
non-designated heritage asset without sufficient justification for its demolition over its 
retention and repair, which together with the out of proportion design of the proposed 
outrigger in relation to existing neighbouring extensions, would adversely affect the setting 
of the adjacent Grade II Listed Buildings, and fail to make a positive contribution to the 
character and appearance of the Harmer Street Conservation Area. The proposal would 
therefore fail to comply with the requirements of Policies CS19 and CS20 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014, and paragraphs 130, 190, 197, 199, 200 and 
203 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021.

Page 23 Agenda Item 5b



The submitted application still does not contain the level of justification required for the 
demolition of the rear outrigger that is considered an important non-designated heritage asset.  
The application is therefore recommended for refusal on the following ground:

The proposal would result in the loss of the existing historic two storey outrigger on this 
non-designated heritage asset without sufficient justification for its demolition over its 
retention and repair, which together with the out of proportion design of the proposed 
outrigger in relation to existing neighbouring extensions, would adversely affect the setting 
of the adjacent Grade II Listed Buildings, and fail to make a positive contribution to the 
character and appearance of the Harmer Street Conservation Area. The proposal would 
therefore fail to comply with the requirements of Saved Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan First Review 1994, Policies CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy 2014, and paragraphs 130, 190, 197, 199, 200 and 203 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2021.

____________________________________________________________________________

MAIN REPORT

1. Site Description and Surroundings

1.1 The application site comprises a public house (TJ’s) with accommodation in the Dutch barn 
style roof. The building is identified within the Conservation Area Character Appraisal as being 
a building of townscape merit, which makes a positive contribution to the special interest of the 
conservation area. There is an existing single storey side addition and a two storey rear 
outrigger attached to the main building. There is also a single storey building providing an 
additional bar/function space within the rear garden, constructed after planning permission was 
granted in 2011. 

1.2 Along the western boundary of the site lies East Crescent Road, which is a narrow lane largely 
providing access to the back of properties on Harmer Street. The Grade II listed buildings of 
Berkley Crescent lie to the west of the site, with further listed buildings beyond to the north on 
Harmer Street, and opposite the site to the south-east (the Post Office). There are commercial 
units with residential above both opposite the site and to the east on Milton Road.

2. Relevant Planning History

20210949 Demolition of an existing rear two 
storey outrigger extension and 
single-storey side extension, 
erection of a rear two storey 
outrigger extension, erection of a 
first floor extension to the existing 
function room to be joined with new 
outrigger extension to create 
function room on ground floor level 
and first-floor accommodation 
comprising of 6 en-suite letting 
rooms ancillary to the existing 
public house.

Refused 22.09.2021

20140344 Replacement of doors and Permitted 06.06.2014

Page 24



windows at ground floor level on 
the front elevation.

20120076 Application for minor material 
amendment to planning permission 
reference number 20110580 for 
erection of single storey annexe in 
the rear garden to provide 
additional bar area/private function 
space; for the doors and windows 
to be UPVC instead of wood.

Permitted 21.03.2012

20111090 Application for approval of 
condition 3 attached to planning 
permission reference number 
20110126 relating to the 1:10 scale 
drawings of the windows.

Approved 06.08.2012

20110580 Erection of single storey annexe in 
the rear garden to provide 
additional bar area/private function 
space.

Permitted 26.08.2011

20110126 Replacement of doors and 
windows at ground floor level on 
front elevation.

Permitted 20.04.2011

3. Proposal

3.1 The proposal is for the demolition of the existing 2 storey outrigger and erection of a 
replacement two storey outrigger linked to a first floor extension to the existing function room 
including the change of use of the new first floor accommodation to 6no.en-suite letting rooms 
ancillary to the existing public house including the relocation of the existing toilets and 
provision of disabled toilet facilities.

Existing 

Page 25



Proposed:

Refused proposal (ref 20210949)

3.2 The proposed extension will be approx. 21.26m deep and 4.81m wide.  It will be approx. 
7.14m high with a pitched roof.  It will provide for six en-suite letting rooms.  The plans are 
almost identical to those previously submitted apart from minor changes to the location and 
dimensions of two small windows and the introduction of two new doors in the western 
elevation providing access to the toilets and boot room lobby.  Under the previous application 
this was to be a store room.  

Background

3.3 Planning application 20210949 was submitted for the ‘Demolition of an existing rear two 
storey outrigger extension and single-storey side extension, erection of a rear two storey 
outrigger extension, erection of a first floor extension to the existing function room to be joined 
with new outrigger extension to create function room on ground floor level and first-floor 
accommodation comprising of 6 en-suite letting rooms ancillary to the existing public house.’  
This was refused for the following reason:

The proposal would result in the loss of the existing historic two storey outrigger on this non-
designated heritage asset without sufficient justification for its demolition over its retention and 
repair, which together with the out of proportion design of the proposed outrigger in relation to 
existing neighbouring extensions, would adversely affect the setting of the adjacent Grade II 
Listed Buildings, and fail to make a positive contribution to the character and appearance of 
the Harmer Street Conservation Area. The proposal would therefore fail to comply with the 
requirements of Policies CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014, 
and paragraphs 130, 190, 197, 199, 200 and 203 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
2021.

Page 26



4. Planning Policy, Development Plan and other Material Considerations

4.1 The relevant policies for this proposal are as follows

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014):
 CS01 – Sustainable Development
 CS02 – Scale and Distribution of Development
 CS05 – Gravesend Town Centre Opportunity Area
 CS11 – Transport
 CS12 – Green Infrastructure
 CS19 – Design and Development Principles
 CS20 – Heritage and the Historic Environment

4.2 Paragraph 33 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) sets out those policies within 
adopted local plans should be reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once 
every five years, and should then be updated as necessary. Such reviews are also a legal 
requirement as set out in Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
England Regulations 2012.

4.3 The Council undertook such a review in September 2019 and the review found that the 
adopted Local Plan Core Strategy is in need of a partial review in terms of Policy CS02 due to 
the increased need for housing since the Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted and the need 
to ensure a sufficient land supply exists to meet this need. Whilst saved policies from the Local 
Plan 1st Review (1994) generally conform with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), 
the Council will also seek to replace these saved policies via the emerging Local Plan.

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994):
 TC2 – Policy for Listed Buildings
 TC3 – Development Affecting Conservation Areas
 T1 – Impact of Development on the Highway Network
 P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards

National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
 Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
 Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities
 Section 9 – Promoting sustainable transport
 Section 11 – Making effective use of land
 Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
 Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
 Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Supplementary Planning Guidance
 SPG2 – Residential Layout Guidelines (2020)
 SPG4 – KCC Parking Standards (2006)
 Harmer Street Conservation Area Character Appraisal (2009)
 Management Plan – Gravesend Town Centre Conservation Areas (2009)
 Technical Housing Standards – Nationally Described Space Standards (2015) 

5. Consultations and Publicity Responses

Internal 

Page 27



GBC - Conservation Officer 

Having read the structural engineer’s report it is clear that there is no structural justification for 
demolition of the outrigger.  The conclusion states “Whilst the existing building is still able to 
carry the existing loads, any extensions to the property which may increase the loads are 
likely to result in strengthening being required”.  As previously stated outriggers of this period 
are integral to the historic appearance of the building, which due to its early date should be 
considered a non-designated heritage asset.  Based on the structural report demolition and 
reconstruction is not justified and would be contrary to local and national policy.  The previous 
comments are still relevant and it should be noted that there is insufficient information 
showing the relationship of the covered garden roof with the proposed external first floor 
access gantry.

Previous comments from application reference 20210949:

There are some reservations about the loss of the outrigger.

Having reviewed the application, referred to street view and the first series OS plans, the 
outrigger is clearly very early and possibly contemporary with the main building. There is a 
terrace of similar buildings with the mansard roof not far from the application site at 23 -29 
Bentley Street. What makes TJ’s (previously the British Tar) of particular interest is the timber 
frame construction and mathematical tile first floor front elevation. The heritage statement 
refers to structural problems with the outrigger which are not supported by a qualified 
structural engineers report, simply a statement in the heritage statement.

The outrigger does make a contribution to the setting of the adjacent listed buildings and the 
conservation area and although windows have been altered they still reference the original 
timber sash and casement windows in their proportion and fenestration. Sadly the feather 
edged weatherboarding on the gable end of the outrigger and the rear and side of the main 
building was replaced between 2008 and 2012 according to Street View. The tall central 
outrigger chimney stack remains, which originally serviced two fireplaces, and the outrigger as 
a whole makes a positive contribution to the conservation area and the adjacent listed building 
to the rear of Berkley Crescent and Harmer Street. It is a rare survivor.

The proposed two storey extension will be out of proportion with the extensions on adjacent 
buildings fronting Milton Road, namely those at 17 and 19 Milton Road, which are 
approximately the same length as the existing outrigger at number 15.

OS Map from 1871 1890 showing outrigger as two units with the single storey building 
beyond.  Adjacent buildings in Milton Road have similar outriggers. The proposed two storey 
extension would be out of proportion resulting in harm to the historic setting of adjacent listed 
buildings and the conservation area.

Page 28



 

Due to its age and historic interest, the building should be treated as a non-designated 
heritage asset. In line with local and national policy, retention and repair rather than demolition 
of the outrigger is therefore desirable and without a full justification its demolition cannot be 
supported.

GBC - Environmental Protection Team (Regulatory Services) (Comments from 20210949)

No objection subject to following conditions: watching brief and code of practice on 
construction/demolition; and informatives: drainage/sewerage, smoke control and noise 
control.

GBC – Highways Officer (Comments from 20210949)

This is a town centre/edge of centre property, so no car parking is required. However, to 
comply with SPG4 requirements for hotels, ideally a single secure and weather proof parking 
space for a bicycle should be provided (1 space per 10 bedrooms).

External 

KCC Heritage

The site lies within an area of multi-period archaeological potential. I consider it unlikely, 
however, that the proposed works, adjacent to the existing dwelling, will have a significant 
archaeological impact and have no further comments to make in this case.

Neighbouring properties (as of 24 January 2022)

The application has been advertised by site notice, press notice and individual letters to 39 
properties.  15 letters of support have been received (two from the same address).  Main 
comments:

- Great addition to the community
- Quality accommodation and disabled access welcome
- Baby change is a welcome addition

6. Planning Analysis and Service Manager Planning Comments

Principle Issues

Page 29



6.1 The main issues to consider in the determination of this application are as follows:

- The principle of the ancillary letting rooms,
- The design of the proposed outrigger extension and the impact on the character and 

appearance of the existing site and surrounding conservation area and listed buildings,
- The effect of the proposal on the amenities of existing neighbouring properties, as well as 

whether the proposed development itself will provide satisfactory living accommodation for 
future occupiers, and 

- The impact on highway safety and parking provision.

Principle of Ancillary Letting Rooms

6.2 Policy CS02 of the Core Strategy 2014 prioritises development in the urban area as a 
sustainable location for development. No. 15 Milton Road lies close to the town centre 
boundary of Gravesend, and is within the Gravesend Town Centre Opportunity Area, and 
therefore the principle of tourist development as proposed is generally supported. 

6.3 In relation to the Town Centre Opportunity Area, Policy CS05 states that the Council will:

• Support and enhance retail, leisure, entertainment, cultural and tourism provision in 
accordance with the sequential approach;

• Support the redevelopment of under-used sites where this makes more efficient use of the 
sites and improves townscape character; and

• Support existing retail, commercial and service functions on the ground floors and the 
provision of offices and residential uses on upper floors subject to achieving a satisfactory 
living environment.

6.4 Policy CS09 (Culture and Tourism) goes on to state that the Council will seek to maximise 
opportunities for expansion in culture and tourism activity, and will support such facilities 
appropriate to their location and accessibility.

6.5 The application site lies some 70m away from the town centre boundary, so is classed as 
being edge of centre. However, whilst it is not within the town centre itself, it is within such 
close proximity that it is considered to be an acceptable location for this type of development, 
given the policy aims of making more efficient use of sites and supporting existing commercial 
and service functions. On this basis, the proposal to add letting rooms to this existing pub site 
is considered to be a complimentary ancillary development to the existing business, and is an 
acceptable use in this location.

Design and Character and Appearance of Surrounding Area

6.6 Development Plan policy places considerable emphasis on the importance of achieving high 
quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and places. Paragraph 130 of the NPPF 2021 
seeks to ensure that development will add to the quality of an area, be visually attractive, and 
sympathetic to local character and history. Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy 2014 reflects 
these aims and requires that new development is well designed and respects the character 
and appearance of the surrounding area.

6.7 The NPPF 2021 also places great significance on the desirability of sustaining and enhancing 
heritage assets, and on new development making a positive contribution to local character 
and distinctiveness (paragraph 190). This is echoed in Policy CS20 of the Core Strategy 
2014, which states that the significance of the Borough’s heritage assets and their setting 
should always be preserved or enhanced. Saved Policy TC2 of the Local Plan 1994 sets out 
that for development affecting the setting of listed buildings, the primary consideration is the 

Page 30



maintenance of the integrity of the original listed building. Proposals must be sympathetic in 
terms of their appearance and materials. Saved Policy TC3 of the Local Plan 1994 also states 
development is expected to make a positive contribution to the Conservation Area. As the 
application site lies within the Harmer Street Conservation Area, these policies are all relevant 
to the consideration of this application.

6.8 The application site comprises a public house (TJ’s) with accommodation in the Dutch barn 
style roof. The building is identified within the Conservation Area Character Appraisal as being 
a building of townscape merit, which makes a positive contribution to the special interest of 
the conservation area. There is an existing single storey side addition and a two storey rear 
outrigger attached to the main building. There is also a single storey building providing an 
additional bar/function space within the rear garden, constructed after planning permission 
was granted in 2011. 

6.9 Along the western boundary of the site lies East Crescent Road, which is a narrow lane 
largely providing access to the back of properties on Harmer Street. The Grade II listed 
buildings of Berkley Crescent lie to the west of the site, with further listed buildings beyond to 
the north on Harmer Street, and opposite the site to the south-east (the Post Office). There 
are commercial units with residential above both opposite the site and to the east on Milton 
Road. The British Tar Public House is referenced as being a building of local heritage interest 
and forming a group of buildings from circa 1840 together with Nos 1 to 45 (odd) and 47A and 
Nos 2 to 48 (even) Harmer Street and Nos 1 to 9 (consec) Berkeley Crescent by Historic 
England. With all of these properties except the British Tar, being Grade II listed buildings.  As 
such outrigger is considered to make a positive contribution to the setting of the adjacent 
listed buildings and conservation area.  

Page 31



6.10The British Tar (now TJs) itself dates from around 1808, historic OS maps show the presence 
of the outrigger during the 1800’s.  Due to its age and historic interest, the building should be 
treated as a non-designated heritage asset. In accordance with paragraph 203 of the NPPF 
2021, in considering applications that affect the significance of a non-designated heritage 
asset, a judgement is required with regards to the scale of any harm or loss. In this instance, 
as the proposal would involve the removal of the existing historic outrigger, which would affect 
the setting of adjacent listed buildings and the conservation area. In line with local and 
national policy, great weight should be given to conservation; retention and repair rather than 
demolition of the outrigger is therefore desirable. The submitted Heritage Statement does 
refer to the existing outrigger being in poor condition and in need of remedial works.  
However, no evidence has been provided by the applicant to support the demolition of the 
outrigger, contrary to this the submitted structural report states:

6.11 With a subsequent supporting statement stating, “As referred to in the previous report there 
are probable issues with the foundations to the existing structure and these are more than 
likely to be unsuitable for supporting a two storey structure. The depth of the existing 
foundations is not likely to meet current building regulation requirements... Due to all of the 
issues with the structure to the Southern Outrigger, it is thought that this part of the structure 
would not be financially viable to repair. If a new two storey structure is proposed it would 
mean demolition and rebuilding of the Southern Outrigger.”

6.12 The structural report supporting the application, clearly demonstrates that there is no 
justification for the demolition of the non-designated heritage asset, and that the structure is in 
need of repairs and maintenance to prevent water ingress.  

6.13 It is noted that the report refers to the front elevation as the west elevation which is incorrect.  
It is therefore unclear which elevations are being referred to in the rest of the report.  Overall 
however, the report does not note any signs of movement or cracking externally.  In terms of 

Page 32



the roof, the main roof and lower roof to the rear addition show signs of long term deflection 
and distortion to the roof shape.  The tiles are in reasonable condition with only one or two 
slipped tiles to the higher roof.  The brickwork to both chimneys is in reasonable condition.

6.14 The conclusion states that the distortion and deflections of the structure to the roof and timber 
frames areas are typical of buildings of this age and type of construction.  These are long term 
deflections which have gradually occurred over the 300 year life of the building.  Although 
some deflections are quite excessive, there are no signs of current movement.  The cracking 
noted to the rear store room (in the outrigger) may be as a result of thermal movement and its 
location is where the timber frame section meets the masonry construction which is where 
differential movement will occur.  The out of alignment of the brick pier on the northwest 
corner is probably as a result is where there is no adjacent brickwork to tie it in.

6.15 In para. 1.1 of the Planning Statement states that the two storey outrigger is structurally 
unsound.  Para. 4.3 acknowledges that the Council wish to see the outrigger retained and 
repair but states that a structural advisor has prepared a supplementary report stating that it is 
leaning precariously due to settlement with sloping floors internally.  According to the planning 
statement the structural advisor has also commented that the main beams within the frame 
are showing signs of rot and that he would question the economic viability or repairing this 
main support structure.   However, the Planning Statement is not supported by the structural 
report and supplementary structural report provided. 

6.16 To consider the loss of a non-designated heritage asset, a detailed structural survey and 
viability assessment are required, however such reports have not been forthcoming.  As there 
is no factual evidence to support the demolition of the outrigger, the only conclusion that can 
be reached is that the proposed development would result in substantial harm to a non-
designated heritage asset and designated heritage assets, and it has not been demonstrated 
that this substantial harm is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh 
that harm. 

6.17 The proposal would also result in an unsympathetic large extension, that is considered to be 
out of scale and not in proportion to adjacent buildings fronting Milton Road, the scale of this 
extension would also harm the setting of adjacent listed buildings and the Conservation Area. 

6.18 As such the application fails to comply with policies TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First 
Review 1994, CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 and para. 
197 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 which seek to preserve non-designated 
heritage assets.

6.19 Whilst it is recognised that the windows have been altered, they still reference the original 
timber sash and casement windows in their proportion and fenestration. This would be 
important to follow through in any further proposals for the site. It also would appear that the 
feather-edged weatherboarding on the gable end of the outrigger and the rear and side of the 
main building was replaced sometime between 2008 and 2012 according to Street View, and 
an opportunity to see this reinstated would be positive (cladding is proposed for the new 
outrigger extension, though exact details of this are not provided). 

6.20 It is also not clear from the submitted plans how the proposals would impact on the current 
covered garden area and boundary treatment, which would benefit from improvement. 

6.21 On the basis of the loss of the outrigger without justification, and the resultant impact on the 
setting of the adjacent listed buildings and conservation area, together with the out of 
proportion form of the proposed outrigger extension, the proposal would fail to comply with the 
requirements of saved Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994, Policies 

Page 33



CS19 and CS20 of the Core Strategy 2014, and paragraphs 130, 190, 197, 199, 200 and 203 
of the NPPF 2021.

Residential Amenity

6.22 The NPPF 2021 states that planning decisions should aim to secure a high standard of 
amenity for all existing and future users (paragraph 130f). The impact on amenity is also 
considered with regard to the criteria within Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy 2014, which 
states that new development should be located, designed and constructed to safeguard the 
amenity, including privacy, daylight and sunlight, of its occupants, and those of neighbouring 
properties and land.

Future Occupiers

6.23 The proposed letting rooms are all approximately 11.5m2, with an additional 2m2 for the en-
suites. They would have storage and sitting space, with windows serving the main rooms and 
high level windows to the en-suites. Overall, they would provide acceptable guest 
accommodation. 

6.24 No amenity concerns have been raised by Environmental Protection with regards to the 
proposed use and potential environmental impacts on future users given the existing public 
house use of the site, and the location within an AQMA.

6.25 There are no conflicts with Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy 2014 in respect of living 
conditions, subject to the proposed en-suite windows being obscurely glazed to protect the 
privacy of guests. 

Neighbouring Properties

6.26 The main properties likely to be affected by the windows within the proposed outrigger 
extension are those within Berkley Crescent, to the west of the site, which are mixed use 
buildings. The flank of the proposed outrigger would be approximately 9.5m away from the 
flank of the closest property on Berkley Crescent (No. 9). However, due to the angle of the 
Berkley Crescent properties, none of the windows to the proposed letting rooms would directly 
face windows within the rear of Berkley Crescent. This is a built up area with buildings in close 
proximity to each other. The proposal will not cause any significant loss of privacy in this 
regard. 

6.27 The proposed extension would be constructed alongside existing two and three storey 
buildings, at Berkley Crescent, to the rear of properties fronting Milton Road, and off Bentley 
Street to the east of the site. Given the nature and scale of the surrounding buildings, the 
proposed outrigger extension will not result in any significant loss of light or overshadowing to 
neighbouring properties.

6.28 The 6 proposed letting rooms would not be likely to cause any significant environmental 
impacts. 

6.29 Overall, the proposals would comply with Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy 2014 in respect of 
neighbouring amenities.

Parking and Highways

6.30 This is a town centre/edge of centre property, so no car parking is required for this proposal. 
In the event of the application being supported the possibility of providing secure bike storage 
would have been considered.   

Page 34



6.31 There would therefore be no conflict with Saved Policy P3 of the Local Plan 1994 and Policy 
CS19 of the Core Strategy 2014.

Thames Estuary and Marshes Ramsar / Special Protection Area (SPA) – SAMMS Tariff

6.32 The application site falls within 6 km of the Thames Estuary and Marshes Special Protection 
Area (SPA), classified in accordance with the European Birds Directive, which requires 
Member States to classify sites that are important for bird species listed on Annex 1 of the 
European Directive, which are rare and/or vulnerable in a European context, and also sites 
that form a critically important network for birds on migration.  The area is also listed as a 
Wetland of International Importance under the Ramsar Convention (Ramsar Site).  Studies 
have shown marked declines in key bird species, particularly in areas that are busiest with 
recreational activity.  Research conducted in 2011 found that additional dwellings were likely 
to result in additional recreational activity, causing disturbance to protected bird species that 
over-winter or breed on the SPA and Ramsar Site.  The studies found that 75% of recreational 
visitors to the North Kent coast originate from within 6 km of the SPA boundary and Ramsar 
Site.  The impacts of recreational disturbance can be such that they affect the status and 
distribution of key bird species and therefore act against the stated conservation objectives of 
the European Sites.  

6.33 The Borough Council has mitigated the impacts of this on each and every planning 
application for new residential development of one or more units within the 6 km zone since 
September 2015 by (where appropriate) accepting a Strategic Access Mitigation and 
Monitoring Strategy (SAMMS) (tariff) payment (currently £253.83 per dwelling). This approach 
is approved by Natural England for all new residential developments.

6.34 For every planning application for a new dwelling (including new flats) which does not require 
any other contributions to be secured through a s106 legal agreement or unilateral 
undertaking, the tariff has been secured through a contribution agreement.  The tariff has 
been accepted effectively in lieu of an Appropriate Assessment (AA) under the Habitat 
Regulations and thus avoiding the need to progress into a full AA.

6.35 However, a more recent Court of Justice European Union (CJEU) ruling means that this 
approach is now no longer valid and although the mitigation measures (in the form of a tariff 
payment) will still need to be made the first stage will be a screening assessment as to 
whether the development either alone or in combination, is likely to have significant effects on 
a designated site without mitigation.  The CJEU sees a distinction between “the plan or 
project” itself and “measures intended to avoid or reduce the harmful effects of a plan or 
project on a European site”. This means that mitigation measures, which are intended to avoid 
or reduce effects, should be assessed within the framework of an AA and cannot be taken into 
account at the screening stage.  

6.36 On this basis a tariff of £253.83 per 5 hotel bedrooms is required.  The applicant paid this 
tariff under the previous application and has filled in a new SAMMS form to arrange a transfer 
to this application.  The proposal therefore puts in place adequate measures to mitigate 
potential significant adverse effects on the Thames Estuary and Marshes SPA/Ramsar Sites, 
which complies with the requirements of paragraphs 174 and 180 of the NPPF 2021 and 
Policy CS12 of the Core Strategy 2014.

Environmental Issues

6.37 There is no objection to the proposal providing conditions/informatives be imposed relating to 
contaminated land, code of practice on construction and demolition, drainage/sewerage, smoke 
control, and noise control.

Page 35



7. Conclusion

7.1 The proposal would result in the loss of the existing historic two storey outrigger on this non-
designated heritage asset without sufficient justification for its demolition over its retention and 
repair, which together with the out of proportion design of the proposed outrigger in relation to 
existing neighbouring extensions, would adversely affect the setting of the adjacent Grade II 
Listed Buildings, and fail to make a positive contribution to the character and appearance of 
the Harmer Street Conservation Area. The proposal would therefore fail to comply with the 
requirements of Saved Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994, Policies 
CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014, and paragraphs 130, 190, 
197, 199, 200 and 203 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021.

______________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation

Refuse for the following reason:

1. The proposal would result in the loss of the existing historic two storey outrigger on this non-
designated heritage asset without sufficient justification for its demolition over its retention and 
repair, which together with the out of proportion design of the proposed outrigger in relation to 
existing neighbouring extensions, would adversely affect the setting of the adjacent Grade II 
Listed Buildings, and fail to make a positive contribution to the character and appearance of 
the Harmer Street Conservation Area. The proposal would therefore fail to comply with the 
requirements of Saved Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994, Policies 
CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014, and paragraphs 130, 190, 
197, 199, 200 and 203 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021.

INFORMATIVES:-

1 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-MAKING

In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), and paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) 2021, the Local Planning Authority has approached the assessment 
and determination of this application in a positive and creative way and, where appropriate, has 
worked pro-actively with the applicant to secure a development that is sustainable and that 
improves the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area, and that is in accordance 
with the Development Plan for the area.

In this instance the application is not in accordance with local and national planning policy and 
cannot be supported.

Page 36



SUMMARY REPORT

Application Ref: 20211473

Site Address: Green Hedges The Street Cobham Gravesend

Application 
Description:

Partial demolition of existing single storey rear extension. Erection of 
new single storey rear extension incorporating a new roof, erection of 
a porch to the side of the dwelling, first floor bathroom window 
adjustments and internal alterations.  

Applicant: Mr Tony Rice

Agent: Mr Felix Lewis, Felix Lewis Architects Ltd

Ward: Shorne, Cobham & Luddesdown

Parish: Cobham

Decision due date: 10 February 2022

Publicity expiry date: 28 January 2022

Decision Level: Planning Committee – Wednesday 2nd February 2022 

Reason for referral: Applicant is a Member of the Council

Recommendation: Permission
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

Summary of Reasons for Recommendation

The proposal is for the partial demolition of an existing single storey rear extension, and the erection of 
a new single storey rear extension incorporating a new roof, erection of a porch to the side of the 
dwelling, first floor bathroom window adjustments and internal alterations.

The proposed development is not considered to have an adverse impact on the amenity of 
neighbouring properties, nor on the heritage assets in close proximity to the site, or on the adjacent 
highway network and surrounding landscape. The design of the proposed development is also deemed 
acceptable. On this basis, the proposed development is deemed to comply with local and national 
policy, subject to the planning conditions set out in this report and permission is recommended.

MAIN REPORT

1. Proposal and Site Description 

1.1 The proposal is for the partial demolition of an existing single storey rear extension, and the 
erection of a new single storey rear extension incorporating a new roof, erection of a porch to 
the side of the dwelling, first floor bathroom window adjustments and internal alterations.

Page 37 Agenda Item 5c



1.2 The application site at Green Hedges, The Street is a detached two storey dwelling set in a 
large plot.  The property benefits from a detached garage to the side/rear and extensive 
driveway for more than two vehicles.

1.3 The application site is located in the Green Belt, in an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB), Cobham Conservation Area and in the Ashenbank and Cobham Parkland 
Landscape Character Area as defined on the adopted Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
policies map and this must be the starting point for determining this application.

1.4 To the north of application site is a mixture of open fields and woods which are within the 
Green Belt and AONB.

2. Relevant Planning History

2.1 The relevant planning history is as follows;

Application Ref. No. Description Status Date
19980074 Demolition of the coal store and 

shed and detached garage.
Permission 26.03.1998

 
19980026 Erection of single storey rear 

extensions to form dining room and 
lobby/store, involving the 
demolition of existing coal store; 
erection of detached double garage 
with attached coal store; alterations 
to front dormer windows from 
continuous flat roof to form 
separate pitched roofs and 
alterations to rear dormer window 
from existing flat roof to pitched 
roof.

Permission 11.03.1998

19920257 Application for Conservation Area 
consent for the demolition of the 
existing outhouse on the north-east 
elevation in connection with the 
erection of a replacement 
extension.

Permission 05.06.1992

 
19920256 Demolition of the existing outhouse 

and erection of a replacement 
single storey extension on the 
north-east elevation to form porch 
with an access ramp and steps and 
construction of a bay window on 
the north-west elevation.

Permission 05.06.1992

  
19881094 Erection of single storey extension 

on the south- east elevation to form 
a conservatory.

Permission 13.12.1988

Page 38



3. Planning Policy, Development Plan and other Material Considerations

Development Plan

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014):
 CS01 – Sustainable Development 
 CS02 – Scale and Distribution of Development
 CS12 – Green Infrastructure
 CS18 – Climate Change
 CS19 – Design & Development Principles
 CS20 – Heritage and the Historic Environment

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994):
 C13 – Extensions to Dwellings in the Countryside
 P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards
 TC3 – Development Affecting Conservation Areas

Other material considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021)
 Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
 Section 4 – Decision-making
 Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
 Section 13 – Protecting Green Belt land
 Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Supplementary Planning Guidance
 SPG2 - Residential layout guidelines including Housing Standards Policy Statement 

October 2015 Adopted 1996 – amended June 2020;
 SPG 4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006)
 Landscape Character Assessment (2009)
 Cobham Conservation Area Appraisal (2017)
 Management Plan Rural Conservation Areas Appraisals (2016)
 Kent Downs AONB Management Plan 2021-2026; and
 Technical Housing Standards: Nationally Described Space Standards (2015).

4. Consultations, Publicity and Representations

Publicity

4.1 Letters were sent to 6 surrounding properties, a site notice displayed on site and press 
notice published with an overall expiry date of 28th January 2022. No comments have 
been received thus far.

Consultees 

4.2 No comments have been received pertaining to this proposed development, consultees 
consulted included Kent Downs AONB Management Unit and Cobham Parish Council.

5. Service Manager Planning Comments

Page 39



Background

5.1 From the planning history, planning permission was granted in 1988 for the erection of single 
storey extension on the south-east elevation to form a conservatory (Ref. 19881094) and in 
1992 planning permission was given for the demolition of the existing outhouse and erection 
of a replacement single storey extension on the north-east elevation to form a porch with an 
access ramp and steps, and construction of a bay window on the north-west elevation (Ref. 
19920256).  It would appear from the submitted plans, that these permission were 
implemented in full and are still in situ, with the exception of the access ramp and steps. 

5.2 In 1998, planning permission was granted for the erection of single storey rear extensions to 
form a dining room and lobby/store, involving the demolition of existing coal store; erection of 
detached double garage with attached coal store; alterations to front dormer windows from 
continuous flat roof to form separate pitched roofs and alterations to rear dormer window 
from existing flat roof to pitched roof (Ref. 19980026).  From the submitted plans, together 
with the supporting Design and Access Statement and Heritage Statement, it is evident that 
this permission was not implemented in its entirety and only the replacement garage and 
coal store were constructed.  

5.3 The remaining elements of the permission (19980026) , whilst given in 1998, could still be 
implemented as the condition of time within the decision notice (condition 1), has been met 
by the garage and coal store being constructed. However, in terms of the proposed 
development, it would be difficult to construct this together with the remaining elements of the 
planning permission granted under 19980026.  Therefore, in terms of assessing this current 
application, it will only be assessed against the development that has already occurred at the 
site.

5.4 The main  issues in consideration of this application is whether;
 the proposal would be inappropriate development in the Green Belt and, if inappropriate 

its effect on the openness of the Green Belt and the purposes of including land with it; 
 the proposal would impact on adjoining properties;
 the proposal would impact the living conditions of future occupiers
 the proposal would result in any parking and highway safety issues;
 the proposal would adversely impact on the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

(AONB); and
 the proposal would adversely impact on the landscape character of the site.

The appropriateness of the development within the Green Belt

5.4 Inappropriate development in the Green Belt is development that by definition, is harmful to 
the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances. Paragraph 
148 goes on to say that very special circumstances will not exist unless the potential harm to 
the Green Belt, by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed 
by other considerations.

5.5 The NPPF (2021) notes that the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban 
sprawl by keeping land permanently open. The essential characteristics of Green Belts are 
their openness and permanence. At paragraph 138 the NPPF (2021) lists the 5 purposes 
which the Green Belt serves. Of particular relevance in this case is that it assists in 

Page 40



safeguarding the countryside from encroachment. 

5.6 The NPPF (2021) makes it clear that new buildings in the Green Belt should be regarded as 
inappropriate, with a small number of exceptions (paragraph 149). The listed exceptions 
include the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building. 

5.7 Policy CS02 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014) (LPCS) 
prioritises development in the urban area as a sustainable location for development. In the 
rural area it states that development will be supported within rural settlements that are inset 
from the Green Belt and defined on the Policies Map.  Development outside those 
settlements (which is the case here), will only be supported where it is compatible with 
national policies for protecting the Green Belt and policies in (LPCS).

5.8 Furthermore, Saved Policy C13 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994) 
(LPFR), which relates to extensions to dwellings in the countryside, sets out a number of 
criteria that should be met when considering proposals for domestic extensions. As the 
policy pre-dates the NPPF (2021), the weight attached to the policy must be considered 
carefully; with greater weight being given where the approach is consistent with paragraph 
149 the NPPF (2021).  

5.9 In particular Policy C13 (LPFR) places an overall limit on extensions of one third of the gross 
floor area of the original dwelling, unless the increased floor space has no overall effect on 
the existing bulk and appearance of the dwelling (criteria (ii)). It also requires the massing, 
scale and form of any extension to be appropriate to the existing dwelling and the Green Belt 
setting (criteria (vi)). It is considered that these factors are relevant in determining whether 
the size of an extension is proportionate and as such, these aspects of the policy are broadly 
in line with the NPPF (2021) and should be afforded weight.  

5.11 In determining proposals for residential extensions in the Green Belt an assessment will be 
made against the impact of the 'original' existing development. The original building is the 
building as it existed on 1 July 1948, however, for older homes constructed prior to July 1st, 
1948, the 'original dwelling' refers to the floorspace of the dwelling as it was on this date. 
Any additions that have occurred since the 'original' dwelling date are considered 
cumulatively and will be counted as part of the overall increase in floorspace of the dwelling 
when new additions are being assessed. The reason for this is small reductions in 
openness, repeated many times, can cumulatively have a detrimental effect.

5.12 As highlighted in the planning history and within the Background section above, the existing 
dwelling in this case has previously been extended in terms of the conservatory to the side 
and the single storey rear extension.

Original dwelling 
Ground Floor 86.78m²
First Floor 86.78m²
Roofspace (unknown)

Total floor space: 173.56m²

Current Property (as extended)
Ground Floor Extensions: 19.18m²

Current property total floor space: 192.74m²

Total floor space increase over original dwelling 11.05%

Page 41



Proposed Extension (increase over the existing)
Ground Floor: 4.7m²

Total floor space proposed: 197.44m²

Total floor space increase over original dwelling 2.7%

Total increase in floor space, including previously approved extension, over original dwelling 
13.75%

5.12 Saved Policy C13 (LPFR) provides the local interpretation of national policy and states there 
will be an overall limit of one third of the gross floor area of the original dwelling (measured 
externally) prior to any later extension or alteration, unless the increased floorspace has no 
overall effect on the existing bulk and appearance of the dwelling.

5.13 In this case the increased floorspace does not exceed the one third limit and therefore is 
within the parameters set by Policy C13 (LPFR). 

5.14 The proposed porch would not result in an increase of internal habitable space and would 
only marginally increase the external footprint of the dwelling.  In terms of the existing and 
proposed single storey extensions, cumulatively, these would result in an  13.75% increase 
of the original property, and would not result in disproportionate additions over and above 
the size of the original building.

5.16 In summary the proposed development is considered to fall within the exception set out in 
Para. 149 (c) of the NPPF, and therefore complies with Policy CS02 (LPCS).

Impact on openness and the purposes of the Green Belt

5.17 Having determined that the proposal is an appropriate development in the Green Belt, it is 
necessary to assess the effect on the openness and the purposes of including land in the 
Green Belt. The NPPF (2021) notes that the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to 
prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open. The essential characteristics of 
Green Belts are their openness and permanence. 

5.18 The proposed porch and extension to the existing rear extension would not be highly visible 
from the surrounding area and would not project further to the rear or side than the existing 
built form. As a result, it is considered that the proposal does not result in any further 
material harm to the openness of the Green Belt and or represent encroachment into the 
countryside. 

5.19 Therefore, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy CS02 (LPCS) and 
Section 13 of the NPPF (2021).

Character and appearance 

5.21 The application property is located along The Street and is set approximately 9.8m from the 
front boundary with extensive soft landscaping surrounding the property, it is noted that 
there is no uniformity of property design within the local area.  Due to the landscaping on 
site, the majority of the views of the property are obscured.  The proposed porch and rear 
extension have been designed well and respect the hip roof of the host property and would 
not significantly differ from the existing rear extension.  The proposed materials have been 
chosen to match the existing materials, as such it is considered that the impact of the 
proposed extension on the streetscene is minimal.  Overall it is considered that the 

Page 42



extension and dormers are modest additions to the dwelling that would not detract or result 
in a detrimental impact on the host property.

Existing North East Elevation Proposed North East Elevation

        

5.22 Taking account of all the above, it is considered that the proposal would accord with Policies 
CS02 and CS19 and Section 12 of the NPPF (2021).

Impact on the Heritage assets

5.23 The application site is within the Cobham Conservation Area and is it not considered that the 
modest extension to the dwelling will have a detrimental impact on the character or setting of 
the Conservation Area. The property itself is not adjacent to any listed buildings, whilst there 
a number in close proximity to the site, the proposed development will not harm the setting of 
these heritage assets. 

5.24 As such the proposed development complies with Policies CS19 and CS20 (LPCS) and 
saved Policy TC3 of the Local Plan First Review (LPFR) and Section 16 of the NPPF (2021).

         Impact on Landscape 

5.25 Section 15 of the NPPF (2021) highlights the importance of conserving and enhancing the 
natural environment, one aspect of which is the protection and enhancement of valued 
landscapes. Policy CS12 (LPCS) seeks to protect the Green infrastructure within the 
Borough and states that the overall landscape character and valued landscapes will be 
conserved, restored and enhanced and the greatest weight will be given to the conservation 
and enhancement of the landscape and natural beauty of the Kent Downs AONB and its 
setting.

5.29 The application site is located within an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and in 
the Ashenbank and Cobham Parkland Landscape Character Area. The topography is 
slightly undulating with a strong presence of man made landform.  The area is characterised 
by two large areas of dense ancient woodland, traditional village centre, typical of north Kent 
landscape.  The condition is good and the guidelines are to conserve and reinforce.

5.30 Due to the nature of this proposal there will be no direct impact on the landscape character 
area. As such the proposal would accord with Policy CS12 (LPCS) and Section 15 of the 
NPPF (2021).

Impact on future occupiers

5.23 The revised NPPF (2021) states that planning decisions should aim to secure a high 
standard of amenity for all existing and future users. The proposed development would 

Page 43



not have a detrimental impact on the living space of the main dwelling and as such 
accords with Policy CS19 (LPCS).

Impact on neighbouring properties

5.24 The impact on neighbouring properties is considered with regard to criteria specified within 
Policy CS19, which states new development should be located, designed and constructed to 
safeguard the amenity, including privacy, daylight and sunlight, of its occupants and those of 
neighbouring properties and land.

5.25 Given the separation distance between properties and the scale of the proposal, it is 
considered the proposal would not result in loss of light, privacy, outlook and increased 
overshadowing. As such the development is in accordance with Policy CS19 (LPCS) in 
respect of the living conditions for neighbouring properties.

Parking and Highways

5.26 The application site benefits from a substantial size drive-way and existing garage with 
vehicle access to the west of the dwelling and the proposal would not result in any impact on 
the parking provision of the property. 

5.27 In respect of parking and highway safety, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy 
CS11 (LPCS) and Saved Policy P3 (LPFR).

6 Conclusion 

6.1 The proposal is a sustainable form of development that accords with local and national    
planning policy including policies pertaining to Green Belt, heritage assets, Landscape 
Character and design. The application is therefore recommended for approval.

________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation

The recommendation is for the application to be GRANTED Planning Permission, subject to the 
following conditions:

Time Limit

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.

Reason In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by 
Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Approved Plans

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans:

Planning Application Form received 1st December 2021;
Drawing No. 321(GA)001 Rev 0 – Existing Location & Block Plans received 1st December 2021;
Drawing No. 321(GA)001B Rev 0 – Proposed Block Plan received 16th December 2021;
Drawing No. 321(GA)002 Rev 0 – Existing Site Plan received 1st December 2021;

Page 44



Drawing No. 321(GA)003 Rev 0 – Proposed Site Plan received 1st December 2021;
Drawing No. 321(GA)010 Rev 0 – Existing Ground Floor Plan received 1st December 2021;
Drawing No. 321(GA)013 Rev 0 – Existing Roof Plan received 1st December 2021;
Drawing No. 321(GA)015 Rev 0 – Existing South West Elevation received 1st December 2021;
Drawing No. 321(GA)16 Rev 0 – Existing North East Elevation received 1st December 2021;
Drawing No. 321(GA)017 Rev 0 – Existing S.West & N.West Elevation received 1st December 2021;
Drawing No. 321(GA)018 Rev 0 – Existing Sections received 1st December 2021;
Drawing No. 321(GA)020 Rev 0 – Proposed Ground Floor Plan received 1st December 2021;
Drawing No. 321(GA)023 Rev 0 – Proposed Roof Plan received 1st December 2021;
Drawing No. 321(GA)025 Rev 0 – Proposed South West Elevation received 1st December 2021;
Drawing No. 321(GA)026 Rev 0 – Proposed North Elevation received 1st December 2021;
Drawing No. 321(GA)027 Rev 0 – Proposed S.East & N.West Elevation received 1st December 2021;
Drawing No. 321(GA)028 Rev 0 – Proposed Sections received 1st December 2021; and
Design, Access & Heritage Statement received 1st December 2021.

Reason For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

Materials

3. Notwithstanding the details included on the application form and approved plans the 
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby 
permitted shall match those used in the existing dwelling.

Reason To maintain the character and appearance of the building and to ensure a satisfactory 
visual relationship between the existing and new development in accordance with 
adopted Policies CS12, CS19 & CS20 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy 
(September 2014).

INFORMATIVES:-

DEVIATION FROM APPROVED PLANS 

BUILDING REGULATIONS AND PARTY WALL ACT

STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION- TAKING

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting
	5a 202111305 - 53 Nickleby Road Gravesend Kent DA12 4UQ
	5b 20211466 - TJ's 15 Milton Road Gravesend Kent
	5c 20211473 - Green Hedges The Street Cobham Gravesend

